

CU INC. INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Consol	idated Statements of Earnings	2
	idated Statements of Comprehensive Income	3
Consol	idated Balance Sheets	4
Consol	idated Statements of Changes in Equity	5
Consol	idated Statements of Cash Flows	6
Notes	to Consolidated Financial Statements	
Gener	ral Information	
1.	The Company and its Operations	7
2.	Basis of Presentation	7
3.	Change in Accounting Policy	8
Inform	nation on Financial Performance	
4.	Segmented Information	11
5.	Revenues	17
6.	Income taxes	18
Inform	nation on Financial Position	
7.	Property, Plant and Equipment	19
8.	Right-of-Use Assets	19
9.	Short-Term Debt	20
10	Long-Term Debt	20
11.	Lease Liabilities	20
12.	Equity Preferred Shares and Equity Preferred Shares to Parent Company	21
13.	Class A and Class B Shares	21
Inform	nation on Cash Flow	
14.	Cash Flow Information	21
Risk		
15.	Financial Instruments	22
Other	[.] Information	
16	Related Party Transactions	22

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

		Three	Months Ended September 30	Nine	Months Ended September 30	
(millions of Canadian Dollars)	Note	2019	2018	2019	2018	
Revenues	5	618	547	2,015	1,830	
Costs and expenses						
Salaries, wages and benefits		(51)	(40)	(152)	(183)	
Energy transmission and transportation		(48)	(45)	(148)	(134)	
Plant and equipment maintenance		(49)	(38)	(121)	(113)	
Fuel costs		(3)	(5)	(10)	(13)	
Purchased power		(18)	(17)	(60)	(57)	
Depreciation and amortization		(105)	(124)	(360)	(387)	
Franchise fees		(43)	(35)	(172)	(158)	
Property and other taxes		(15)	(17)	(47)	(52)	
Other		(66)	(58)	(184)	(175)	
		(398)	(379)	(1,254)	(1,272)	
Operating profit		220	168	761	558	
Interest income	16	17	4	24	11	
Interest expense		(90)	(90)	(275)	(269)	
Net finance costs		(73)	(86)	(251)	(258)	
Earnings before income taxes		147	82	510	300	
Income tax (expense) recovery	6	(35)	(22)	79	(81)	
Earnings for the period		112	60	589	219	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

		Months Ended September 30	Nine Months Ended September 30		
(millions of Canadian Dollars)	2019	2018	2019	2018	
Earnings for the period	112	60	589	219	
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of income taxes					
Items that will not be reclassified to earnings:					
Re-measurement of retirement benefits (1)	_	4	(10)	5	
Comprehensive income for the period	112	64	579	224	

⁽¹⁾ Net of income taxes of nil and \$4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 (2018 - \$(1) million and \$(2) million). See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

		September 30	December 31
(millions of Canadian Dollars)	Note	2019	2018
ASSETS			
Current assets			
Cash		137	21
Short-term advances to parent company		149	_
Accounts receivable and contract assets		271	366
Accounts receivable from parent and affiliate companies		18	39
Long-term advances to affiliate company	16	_	52
Inventories		17	15
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		26	27
		618	520
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	7	15,363	15,089
Intangibles		566	557
Right-of-use assets	3, 8	6	_
Long-term advances to affiliate company	16	_	78
Other assets		12	11
Total assets		16,565	16,255
LIABILITIES			
Current liabilities			
Bank indebtedness		75	_
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		313	410
Accounts payable to parent and affiliate companies		26	42
Lease liabilities	3, 11	2	_
Other current liabilities	-,	4	6
Short-term debt	9	_	25
Long-term debt	10	_	480
		420	963
Non-current liabilities			
Deferred income tax liabilities		1,229	1,325
Retirement benefit obligations		163	149
Customer contributions		1,704	1,683
Lease liabilities	3, 11	4	-
Other liabilities		24	18
Long-term debt	10	8,050	7,472
Total liabilities		11,594	11,610
EQUITY			
Equity preferred shares		187	187
Equity preferred shares to parent company		79	79
Class A and Class B share owner's equity			
Class A and Class B shares		1,056	1,056
Retained earnings		3,649	3,323
		4,705	4,379
Total equity		4,971	4,645
Total liabilities and equity		16,565	16,255
		10,303	10,233

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(millions of Canadian Dollars)	Note	Class A and Class B Shares	Equity Preferred Shares	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	Total Equity
December 31, 2017		1,056	266	3,320	_	4,642
Earnings for the period		_	_	219	_	219
Other comprehensive income		_	_	_	5	5
Gains on retirement benefits transferred to retained earnings		_	_	5	(5)	_
Dividends	12, 13	_	_	(63)	_	(63)
September 30, 2018		1,056	266	3,481	_	4,803
December 31, 2018	,	1,056	266	3,323	_	4,645
Earnings for the period		_	_	589	_	589
Other comprehensive loss		_	_	_	(10)	(10)
Losses on retirement benefits transferred to retained earnings		-	_	(10)	10	-
Dividends	12, 13	_	_	(253)	_	(253)
September 30, 2019		1,056	266	3,649		4,971

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

		Thre	e Months Ended September 30	Nin	e Months Ended September 30
(millions of Canadian Dollars)	Note	2019	2018	2019	2018
Operating activities					
Earnings for the period		112	60	589	219
Adjustments to reconcile earnings to cash flows from operating activities	14	230	228	563	720
Changes in non-cash working capital		51	(63)	(5)	(21)
Cash flows from operating activities		393	225	1,147	918
Investing activities					
Additions to property, plant and equipment		(235)	(224)	(593)	(655)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment		_	1	_	1
Additions to intangibles		(12)	(6)	(39)	(37)
Repayment of long-term advances by affiliate company	16	130	-	130	-
Changes in non-cash working capital		2	(16)	(27)	(101)
Other		-	1	-	2
Cash flows used in investing activities		(115)	(244)	(529)	(790)
Financing activities					
Net repayment of short-term debt	9	(50)	(50)	(25)	_
Issue of long-term debt	10	580	1	580	1
Repayment of long-term debt	10	(300)	-	(480)	-
Repayment of lease liabilities	11	(1)	_	(2)	_
Dividends paid on equity preferred shares	12	(3)	(3)	(8)	(8)
Dividends paid to Class A and Class B share owner	13	(245)	_	(245)	(55)
Interest paid		(77)	(80)	(269)	(265)
Interest received from parent and affiliate companies	16	19	_	25	6
Other		(4)	_	(4)	_
Cash flows used in financing activities		(81)	(132)	(428)	(321)
Increase (decrease) in cash position		197	(151)	190	(193)
Beginning of period		14	(16)	21	26
End of period	14	211	(167)	211	(167)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

(Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian Dollars, except as otherwise noted)

1. THE COMPANY AND ITS OPERATIONS

CU Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Canada and its debt and equity preferred shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Its head office and registered office is at 4th Floor, West Building, 5302 Forand Street SW, Calgary, Alberta T3E 8B4. The Company is controlled by Canadian Utilities Limited, which in turn is principally controlled by ATCO Ltd. and its controlling share owner, the Southern family.

CU Inc. is engaged in the following business activities:

- Electricity (electricity distribution, transmission and infrastructure development); and
- Pipelines & Liquids (natural gas transmission, distribution and infrastructure development).

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CU Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company).

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements are prepared according to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting using accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). They do not include all the disclosures required in annual consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, prepared according to IFRS.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements are prepared following the same accounting policies used in the Company's most recent annual consolidated financial statements, except for the change in accounting policy described in Note 3 and income taxes. In interim periods, income taxes are accrued using an estimate of the annualized effective tax rate applied to year-to-date earnings.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board of Directors, on October 30, 2019.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historic cost basis, except for retirement benefit obligations and cash-settled share-based compensation liabilities which are carried at remeasured amounts or fair value.

Revenues, earnings and adjusted earnings for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of operations on an annual basis. Quarterly financial results may be affected by the seasonal nature of the Company's operations and the timing of utility rate decisions.

3. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

LEASES

The Company adopted IFRS 16 *Leases* on January 1, 2019, which introduces a new approach to lease accounting. The Company adopted the standard using the modified retrospective approach, which does not require restatement of prior period financial information, as it recognizes the cumulative impact on the opening balance sheet and applies the standard prospectively. Accordingly, the comparative information in these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements is not restated.

At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or modified, on or after January 1, 2019.

Practical expedients

Effective January 1, 2019, the IFRS 16 transition date, the Company elected to use the following practical expedients under the modified retrospective transition approach:

- Leases with lease terms of less than twelve months (short-term leases) and leases of low-value assets (less than \$5,000 U.S. dollars) (low-value leases) that have been identified at transition, were not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet;
- Right-of-use assets on transition were measured at the amount equal to the lease liabilities at transition, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments;
- For certain leases having associated initial direct costs, the Company, at initial measurement on transition, excluded these directs costs from the measurement of the right-of-use assets; and
- Any provision for onerous lease contracts previously recognized at the date of adoption of IFRS 16, has been applied to the associated right-of-use asset recognized upon transition.

The Company as a lessee

Where the Company is a lessee, a right-of-use asset representing the right to use the underlying asset with a corresponding lease liability is recognized when the leased asset becomes available for use by the Company.

The right-of-use asset is recognized at cost and is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The cost of the right-of-use asset is based on the following:

- the amount of initial recognition of related lease liability;
- adjusted by any lease payments made on or before inception of the lease;
- increased by any initial direct costs incurred; and
- decreased by lease incentives received and any costs to dismantle the leased asset.

The lease term includes consideration of an option to extend or to terminate if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

Lease liabilities are initially recognized at the present value of the lease payments. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. Subsequent to recognition, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising mainly from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, renewal or termination option.

The payments related to short-term leases and low-value leases are recognized as other expenses over the lease term in the unaudited interim consolidated statements of earnings.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

In the situation where the implicit interest rate in the lease is not readily determined, the Company uses judgment to estimate the incremental borrowing rate for discounting the lease payments. The Company's incremental borrowing rate generally reflects the interest rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow a similar amount at a similar term and with a similar security. The Company estimates the lease term by considering the facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension or termination option. Certain qualitative and quantitative assumptions are used when evaluating these incentives.

The Company as a lessor

The Company's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements were not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 16 *Leases* in relation to lessor accounting. Lessors will continue with the dual classification model for recognized leases with the resultant accounting remaining unchanged from IAS 17 *Leases*.

Sub-surface Rights

In June 2019, the IFRS Interpretations Committee, acting on a request for interpretation, concluded that a pipeline sub-surface arrangement is, or contains, a lease under IFRS 16. A pipeline sub-surface arrangement is an agreement with a landowner to lay an underground pipeline in exchange for consideration. It contains a lease because the underground space is physically distinct from the landowner's land, and the owner of the pipeline has exclusive use of the underground space.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on its pipeline sub-surface arrangements. The assessment is expected to be complete before the end of 2019. Based on the preliminary analysis performed to date, the impact on the consolidated financial statements is not expected to be significant.

IMPACT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on unaudited interim consolidated financial statements

On January 1, 2019, the Company recognized \$8 million of right-of-use assets and \$8 million of lease liabilities. The Company applied its weighted average incremental borrowing rate at January 1, 2019, 3.00 per cent, to determine the amount of lease liabilities. The effect of the adjustment to the amounts recognized in the Company's unaudited interim consolidated balance sheet at January 1, 2019 is shown below.

(millions of Canadian Dollars)	Note	December 31, 2018, as previously reported	IFRS 16 re- measurement adjustments on January 1, 2019	Restated
ASSETS				
Non-current assets				
Right-of-use assets	8	_	8	8
Total assets		16,255	8	16,263
LIABILITIES	,			
Current liabilities				
Lease liabilities	11	_	2	2
Non-current liabilities				
Lease liabilities	11	_	6	6
Total liabilities		11,610	8	11,618
EQUITY	,		,	
Equity preferred shares		187	_	187
Equity preferred shares to parent company		79	_	79
Class A and Class B share owner's equity				
Class A and Class B shares		1,056	_	1,056
Retained earnings		3,323	_	3,323
		4,379	_	4,379
Total equity		4,645	_	4,645
Total liabilities and equity		16,255	8	16,263

The reconciliation of differences between the operating lease commitments disclosed at December 31, 2018 (when applying IAS 17 *Leases*), discounted using the weighted average incremental borrowing rate at January 1, 2019, and the lease liabilities recognized upon adoption of IFRS 16 *Leases*, is shown below.

Operating lease commitments at December 31, 2018, as previously reported	25
Adjustment to reflect discounting of the operating lease commitments at December 31, 2018, using the weighted average incremental borrowing rate	(2)
Lease liabilities at January 1, 2019, before exemptions and other adjustments	23
Exemptions applied upon recognition of lease liabilities:	
Short-term leases	(1)
Contracts not meeting the definition of a lease (1)	(15)
Recognition of the lease term extension option (2)	1
Lease liabilities recognized at January 1, 2019	8

⁽¹⁾ Contracts not meeting the definition of a lease are comprised of contracts or certain components of contracts that are considered executory service arrangements.

⁽²⁾ Recognition of the lease term extension option relates to leases where the extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised.

4. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

SEGMENTED RESULTS

Results by operating segment for the three months ended September 30 are shown below.

2019		Pipelines	Corporate	Intersegment	
2018	Electricity	& Liquids	& Other	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues - external	343	275	_	_	618
	329	218	-	_	547
Revenues - intersegment	-	1	_	(1)	_
	_	_	_	_	_
Revenues	343	276	_	(1)	618
	329	218	-	-	547
Operating expenses (1)	(122)	(173)	-	2	(293)
	(105)	(155)	-	5	(255)
Depreciation and amortization	(57)	(48)	_	_	(105)
	(76)	(48)	-	-	(124)
Net finance costs	(58)	(30)	15	-	(73)
	(55)	(31)	_	_	(86)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	106	25	15	1	147
	93	(16)	-	5	82
Income tax (expense) recovery	(26)	(5)	(3)	(1)	(35)
	(25)	4	_	(1)	(22)
Earnings (loss) for the period	80	20	12	-	112
	68	(12)	_	4	60
Adjusted earnings (loss)	73	-	-	-	73
	70	(2)	_	4	72
Capital expenditures ⁽³⁾	95	157	-	-	252
	97	138	-	_	235

Results by operating segment for the nine months ended September 30 are shown below.

2019		Pipelines	Corporate	Intersegment	
2018	Electricity	& Liquids	& Other	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues - external	1,041	974	-	-	2,015
	945	885	-	_	1,830
Revenues - intersegment	1	1	-	(2)	-
	_	_	_	_	
Revenues	1,042	975	-	(2)	2,015
	945	885	_	_	1,830
Operating expenses (1)	(352)	(546)	-	4	(894)
	(365)	(525)	_	5	(885)
Depreciation and amortization	(212)	(148)	_	_	(360)
·	(236)	(151)	-	-	(387)
Net finance costs	(172)	(94)	15	-	(251)
	(166)	(92)	_	_	(258)
Earnings before income taxes	306	187	15	2	510
	178	117	-	5	300
Income tax recovery (expense)	60	23	(3)	(1)	79
	(48)	(32)	_	(1)	(81)
Earnings for the period	366	210	12	1	589
	130	85	_	4	219
Adjusted earnings	246	114	_	1	361
	220	98	-	4	322
Total assets ⁽²⁾	10,202	6,231	152	(20)	16,565
	10,123	6,021	139	(28)	16,255
Capital expenditures ⁽³⁾	290	355	-	-	645
	323	384	_	_	707

Includes total costs and expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization expense. 2018 comparatives are at December 31, 2018.

Includes additions to property, plant and equipment and intangibles and \$5 million and \$13 million of interest capitalized during construction for three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 (2018 - \$5 million and \$15 million).

ADJUSTED EARNINGS

Adjusted earnings are earnings for the period after adjusting for:

- the timing of revenues and expenses for rate-regulated activities,
- dividends on equity preferred shares of the Company,
- · one-time gains and losses,
- · significant impairments, and
- items that are not in the normal course of business or a result of day-to-day operations.

Adjusted earnings are a key measure of segment earnings used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to assess segment performance and allocate resources. Other accounts in the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have not been adjusted as they are not used by the CODM for those purposes.

The reconciliation of adjusted earnings and earnings for the three months ended September 30 is shown below.

2019		Pipelines	Corporate	Intersegment	
2018	Electricity	& Liquids	& Other	Eliminations	Consolidated
Adjusted earnings (loss)	73	-	-	-	73
	70	(2)	-	4	72
Prepayment penalty received on early settlement of long-term advances to affiliate companies	-	-	12	-	12
	-	-	-	_	-
Rate-regulated activities	8	19	-	-	27
	(3)	(12)	_	-	(15)
IT Common Matters decision	(2)	(1)	-	-	(3)
	_	-	_	_	_
Dividends on equity preferred shares of	1	2	-	-	3
the Company the Company	1	2	_		3
Earnings (loss) for the period	80	20	12	-	112
	68	(12)	_	4	60

The reconciliation of adjusted earnings and earnings for the nine months ended September 30 is shown below.

2019		Pipelines	Corporate	Intersegment	
2018	Electricity	& Liquids	& Other	Eliminations	Consolidated
Adjusted earnings	246	114	_	1	361
	220	98	_	4	322
Prepayment penalty received on early settlement of long-term advances to	-	-	12	-	12
affiliate companies	_	-	-	-	-
Restructuring and other costs	_	_	_	-	_
	(25)	(14)	-	-	(39)
Rate-regulated activities	125	100	_	-	225
	(69)	(3)	-	-	(72)
IT Common Matters decision	(9)	(8)	-	-	(17)
	_	-	_	-	_
Dividends on equity preferred shares of	4	4	-	-	8
the Company the Company	4	4	-	_	8
Earnings for the period	366	210	12	1	589
	130	85	_	4	219

Prepayment penalty received on early settlement of long-term advances to affiliate companies

In the third quarter of 2019, the Company recorded \$16 million (\$12 million after-tax) related to a prepayment penalty fee on the early repayment of \$78 million of long-term advances issued to its affiliate company. The repaid amounts were originally due from 2020 to 2023 (see Note 16).

Restructuring and other costs

In the second quarter of 2018, the Company recorded restructuring and other costs of \$39 million, after tax, that were not in the normal course of business. These costs mainly related to staff reductions and associated severance costs, as well as costs related to decisions to discontinue certain projects that no longer represented long-term strategic value to the Company.

Rate-regulated activities

ATCO Electric and its subsidiaries, ATCO Electric Yukon, Northland Utilities (NWT) and Northland Utilities (Yellowknife), as well as ATCO Gas and ATCO Pipelines are collectively referred to as Utilities.

There is currently no specific guidance under IFRS for rate-regulated entities that the Company is eligible to adopt. In the absence of this guidance, the Utilities do not recognize assets and liabilities from rate-regulated activities as may be directed by regulatory decisions. Instead, the Utilities recognize revenues in earnings when amounts are billed to customers, consistent with the regulator-approved rate design. Operating costs and expenses are recorded when incurred. Costs incurred in constructing an asset that meet the asset recognition criteria are included in the related property, plant and equipment or intangible asset.

The Company uses standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the United States as another source of generally accepted accounting principles to account for rate-regulated activities in its internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM believes that earnings presented in accordance with the FASB standards are a better representation of the operating results of the Company's rate-regulated activities. Therefore, the Company presents adjusted earnings as part of its segmented disclosures on this basis. Rate-regulated accounting (RRA) standards impact the timing of how certain revenues and expenses are recognized when compared to non-rate regulated activities, to appropriately reflect the economic impact of a regulator's decisions on revenues.

Rate-regulated accounting differs from IFRS in the following ways:

	Timing Adjustment	Items	RRA Treatment	IFRS Treatment
1.	Additional revenues billed in current period	Future removal and site restoration costs, and impact of colder temperatures.	The Company defers the recognition of cash received in advance of future expenditures.	The Company recognizes revenues when amounts are billed to customers and costs when they are incurred.
2.	Revenues to be billed in future periods	Deferred income taxes and impact of warmer temperatures.	The Company recognizes revenues associated with recoverable costs in advance of future billings to customers.	The Company recognizes costs when they are incurred, but does not recognize their recovery until customer rates are changed and amounts are collected through future billings.
3.	Regulatory decisions received	Regulatory decisions received which relate to current and prior periods.	The Company recognizes the earnings from a regulatory decision pertaining to current and prior periods when the decision is received.	The Company does not recognize earnings from a regulatory decision when it is received as regulatory assets and liabilities are not recorded under IFRS.
4.	Settlement of regulatory decisions and other items	Settlement of amounts receivable or payable to customers and other items.	The Company recognizes the amount receivable or payable to customers as a reduction in its regulatory assets and liabilities when collected or refunded through future billings.	The Company recognizes earnings when customer rates are changed and amounts are recovered or refunded to customers through future billings.

The significant timing adjustments as a result of the differences between rate-regulated accounting and IFRS are as follows:

	Three	Three Months Ended September 30		e Months Ended September 30
	2019	2018	2019	2018
Additional revenues billed in current period				
Future removal and site restoration costs (1)	18	19	55	58
Impact of colder temperatures (2)	2	6	14	18
Revenues to be billed in future periods				
Deferred income taxes (3)	(16)	(20)	(71)	(78)
Deferred income taxes due to decrease in provincial corporate income tax (4)	_	_	210	_
Regulatory decisions received (see below)	3	_	_	_
Settlement of regulatory decisions and other items ⁽⁵⁾	20	(20)	17	(70)
	27	(15)	225	(72)

⁽¹⁾ Removal and site restoration costs are billed to customers over the estimated useful life of the related assets based on forecast costs to be incurred in future periods.

Regulatory decisions received

Under rate-regulated accounting, the Company recognizes earnings from a regulatory decision pertaining to current and prior periods when the decision is received. A description of the significant regulatory decisions recognized in adjusted earnings in 2019 is provided below.

	Decision	Amount	Description
1.	Information Technology (IT) Common Matters	17	In August 2014, CU Inc.'s parent, Canadian Utilities Limited (CU), sold its IT services business to Wipro Ltd. (Wipro) and signed a ten-year IT Master Services Agreement (MSA) effective January 1, 2015.
			In 2015, the AUC commenced an Information Technology Common Matters proceeding to review the recovery of IT costs by the Alberta Utilities from January 1, 2015 going forward. On June 5, 2019, the AUC issued its decision regarding the IT Common Matters proceeding and directed the Alberta Utilities to reduce the first-year of the Wipro MSA by 13 per cent and to apply a glide path that reduces pricing by 4.61 per cent in each of years 2 through 10. The reduction in adjusted earnings resulting from the decision for the period January 1, 2015 to September 30, 2019 was \$17 million. Of this amount, \$14 million relates to the period January 1, 2019 to June 30, 2019 and was recorded in the second quarter of 2019. The remaining \$3 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2019.
2.	ATCO Electric Transmission General Tariff Application (GTA)	(17)	In June 2017, ATCO Electric Transmission filed a GTA for its operations for 2018 and 2019. The decision was received in July 2019 approving the majority of capital expenditures and operating costs requested. The increase in adjusted earnings resulting from the decision of \$17 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2019.

⁽²⁾ ATCO Gas' customer rates are based on a forecast of normal temperatures. Fluctuations in temperatures may result in more or less revenue being recovered from customers than forecast. Revenues above or below the normal in the current period are refunded to or recovered from customers in future periods.

⁽³⁾ Income taxes are billed to customers when paid by the Company.

⁽⁴⁾ In the second quarter of 2019, the Government of Alberta enacted a phased decrease in the provincial corporate income tax rate from 12 per cent to 8 per cent. This decrease is being phased in increments from July 1, 2019 to January 1, 2022 (see Note 6). As a result of this change, the Alberta Utilities decreased deferred income taxes and increased earnings in the second quarter of 2019 by \$210 million.

⁽⁵⁾ For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, ATCO Electric recorded a decrease in earnings for the period of \$38 million mainly related to the refund of deferral account balances for 2013 and 2014. ATCO Gas also recorded a reduction in earnings for the period of \$33 million related to the refund of previously over collected transmission costs.

IT Common Matters decision

As described in the IT Common Matters decision above, in August 2014, CU Inc.'s parent, CU sold its IT services business to Wipro Ltd. (Wipro) and signed a ten-year IT Master Services Agreement (MSA) effective January 1, 2015. Proceeds of the sale were \$204 million, resulting in a one-time after-tax gain of \$138 million. In 2014, CU did not include this gain on sale in adjusted earnings because it was a significant one-time event.

In June 2019, the AUC issued its decision regarding the IT Common Matters proceeding which is described in the regulatory decisions received section above. In the proceeding, the Company presented a considerable amount of evidence, including expert benchmarking and price review studies to support that the Wipro MSA rates were at fair market value. As such, there was no cross subsidization between the sale price of the CU's IT services business to Wipro in the 2014 transaction and the establishment of IT rates under the MSA. Despite these efforts the AUC found that the Alberta Utilities failed to demonstrate that the IT pricing in the MSA would result in just and reasonable rates.

Consistent with the treatment in 2014, the \$17 million reduction recognized in 2019 year-to-date, along with future impacts associated with this decision, will be excluded in adjusted earnings.

5. REVENUES

The Company disaggregates revenues from contracts with customers based on the revenue streams of the operating segments.

The disaggregation of revenues by revenue streams for each operating segment for the three months ended September 30 are shown below:

2019		Discolling and	•	
2018	Electricity	Pipelines & Liquids	Corporate & Other	Total
Revenue Streams				
Rendering of Services				
Distribution services	148	158	-	306
	116	135	-	251
Transmission services	168	69	-	237
	185	49	_	234
Customer contributions	3	5	-	8
	8	5	_	13
Franchise fees	7	36	-	43
	8	27	_	35
Total rendering of services	326	268	-	594
	317	216	_	533
Other	17	7	-	24
	12	2	_	14
Total	343	275	_	618
	329	218	_	547

The disaggregation of revenues by revenue streams by each operating segment for the nine months ended September 30 are shown below:

2019		Pipelines	Corporate	
2018	Electricity	& Liquids	& Other	Total
Revenue Streams				
Rendering of Services				
Distribution services	432	594	_	1,026
	399	554	_	953
Transmission services	505	208	_	713
	454	178	_	632
Customer contributions	23	14	_	37
	24	11	_	35
Franchise fees	24	148	_	172
	23	135	_	158
Total rendering of services	984	964	_	1,948
	900	878	-	1,778
Other	57	10	_	67
	45	7	_	52
Total	1,041	974	_	2,015
	945	885	_	1,830

6. INCOME TAXES

On May 28, 2019, the Alberta government passed Bill 3, the Job Creation Tax Cut, which will reduce the Alberta provincial corporate tax rate from 12 per cent to 8 per cent in a phased approach between July 1, 2019 and January 1, 2022.

As a result of this change, the Company made an adjustment to current and deferred income taxes of \$1 million and \$210 million, respectively, which was recorded in the second quarter of 2019.

As the tax rate change came into effect on July 1, 2019, the combined federal and Alberta statutory Canadian income tax rate for 2019 is 26.5 per cent. Prior to the change, the combined federal and Alberta statutory Canadian income tax rate for 2019 was 27.0 per cent.

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A reconciliation of the changes in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is as follows:

	Utility Transmission & Distribution	Land and Buildings	Construction Work-in- Progress	Other	Total
Cost					
December 31, 2018	17,946	618	455	657	19,676
Additions	_	_	613	_	613
Transfers	545	2	(552)	5	_
Retirements and disposals	(31)	(2)	_	(6)	(39)
September 30, 2019	18,460	618	516	656	20,250
Accumulated depreciation		-			
December 31, 2018	4,165	156	_	266	4,587
Depreciation	296	12	_	31	339
Retirements and disposals	(31)	(2)	_	(6)	(39)
September 30, 2019	4,430	166	_	291	4,887
Net book value					
December 31, 2018	13,781	462	455	391	15,089
September 30, 2019	14,030	452	516	365	15,363

The additions to property, plant and equipment included \$13 million of interest capitalized during construction for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (2018 - \$15 million).

8. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Company's right-of-use assets mainly relate to the lease of land and buildings.

	Note	Land and Buildings
Cost		
January 1, 2019, on adoption of IFRS 16	3	8
September 30, 2019		8
Accumulated depreciation		
January 1, 2019, on adoption of IFRS 16	3	_
Depreciation		2
September 30, 2019		2
Net book value		
January 1, 2019, on adoption of IFRS 16	3	8
September 30, 2019		6

9. SHORT-TERM DEBT

At September 30, 2019, the Company had no commercial paper outstanding (December 31, 2018 - \$25 million of commercial paper outstanding at an effective interest rate of 2.31 per cent, matured in January 2019).

10 LONG-TERM DEBT

On September 5, 2019, the Company issued \$580 million of 2.963 per cent debentures maturing on September 7, 2049.

The Company repaid \$180 million of 5.432 per cent debentures on January 23, 2019 and \$300 million of 6.8 per cent debentures on August 13, 2019.

11. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Company has recognized lease liabilities in relation to the arrangements to lease land and buildings. The reconciliation of movements in lease liabilities is as follows:

	Note	
January 1, 2019, on adoption of IFRS 16	3	8
Interest expense (1)		_
Lease payments		(2)
		6
Less: amounts due within one year		(2)
September 30, 2019	·	4

⁽¹⁾ During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, interest expense was less than \$1 million.

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted contractual balances of the lease liabilities is as follows:

In one year or less	2
In more than one year, but not more than five years	5
In more than five years	_
	7

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, \$1 million and \$3 million, respectively, was expensed in relation to low-value leases, and no expenses were incurred in relation to short-term leases or leases with variable payments.

12. EQUITY PREFERRED SHARES AND EQUITY PREFERRED SHARES TO PARENT COMPANY

Cash dividends declared and paid per share are as follows:

	Three	Months Ended September 30	Nine Months Ended September 30	
(dollars per share)	2019	2018	2019	2018
Equity preferred shares				
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares				
4.60% Series 1	0.2875	0.2875	0.8625	0.8625
2.243% Series 4	0.1402	0.1402	0.4206	0.4206
Equity preferred shares to parent company				
Perpetual Cumulative Second Preferred Shares				
4.60% Series V	0.2875	0.2875	0.8625	0.8625

The payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Board and depends on the financial condition of the Company and other factors.

13. CLASS A AND CLASS B SHARES

DIVIDENDS

The Company declared and paid cash dividends of \$42.55 per Class A non-voting share and Class B common share during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 (2018 - nil and \$9.55). The payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Board and depends on the financial condition of the Company and other factors.

14. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE EARNINGS TO CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Adjustments to reconcile earnings to cash flows from operating activities are summarized below.

	Three Months Ended September 30		Nine Months Ended September 30	
	2019	2018	2019	2018
Depreciation and amortization	105	124	360	387
Income tax expense (recovery)	35	22	(79)	81
Contributions by utility customers for extensions to plant	21	14	58	64
Amortization of customer contributions	(8)	(13)	(37)	(38)
Net finance costs	73	86	251	258
Income taxes recovered (paid)	5	(5)	2	(18)
Other	(1)	_	8	(14)
	230	228	563	720

CASH POSITION

Cash position in the consolidated statements of cash flows at September 30 is comprised of:

	2019	2018
Cash	137	20
Short-term advances to parent company	149	_
Bank indebtedness	(75)	_
Short-term advances from parent company	_	(187)
	211	(167)

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments are measured at amortized cost or fair value. Fair value represents the estimated amounts at which financial instruments could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Determining fair value requires management judgment. The valuation methods used to determine the fair value of each financial instrument and its associated level in the fair value hierarchy is described below.

Financial Instruments	Fair Value Method		
Measured at Amortized Cost			
Cash, short-term advances to parent company, accounts receivable and contract assets, accounts receivable from parent and affiliate companies, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, accounts payable to parent and affiliate companies and short-term debt.	Assumed to approximate carrying value due to their short-term nature.		
Long-term advances to affiliate company and long-term debt.	Determined using quoted market prices for the same or similar issues. Where the market prices are not available, fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the Company's current borrowing rate for similar borrowing arrangements (Level 2).		

The fair values of the Company's financial instruments measured at amortized cost are as follows:

Recurring Measurements	September 30, 2019		December 31, 2018	
	Carrying Value	Fair Value	Carrying Value	Fair Value
Financial Assets				
Long-term advances to affiliate company	_	_	130	147
Financial Liabilities				
Long-term debt	8,050	9,824	7,952	8,591

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

RELATED PARTY LOANS AND BALANCES

In the third quarter of 2019, the Company received settlements of \$130 million of long-term advances from Alberta Power (2000) Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company's parent. Of this amount, \$52 million matured in August 2019, and \$78 million was originally due to mature between 2020 and 2023. In accordance with the financing agreement with Alberta Power (2000) Ltd., the early settlement of the long-term advances resulted in a prepayment penalty fee of \$16 million that was recorded in interest income in the statements of earnings for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019.